
 

Agenda - Y Pwyllgor Cyllid 
Lleoliad:  

Ystafell Scott, Royal Society of 

Edinburgh 

Dyddiad: Dydd Iau, 13 Mehefin 2019 

Amser: 09.30

I gael rhagor o wybodaeth cysylltwch a: 

Bethan Davies 

Clerc y Pwyllgor 

0300 200 6372  

SeneddCyllid@cynulliad.cymru
------ 

1 Cyflwyniad, ymddiheuriadau, dirprwyon a datgan buddiant 

(09.30)   

2 Papur(au) i'w nodi 

(09.30)   

2.1 PTN1 - Llythyr gan y Dirprwy Weinidog Iechyd a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol: 

Bil Plant (Diddymu Amddiffyniad Cosb Resymol) (Cymru) – 31 Mai 2019 

 (Tudalennau 1 - 5)  

2.2 PTN2 - Llythyr gan Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor yr Economi, Seilwaith a Sgiliau - 

Taliadau cadw mewn contractau adeiladu - 6 Mehefin 2019 

 (Tudalen 6)  

3 Proses y gyllideb ar gyfer deddfwriaeth: Sesiwn dystiolaeth 1 

(09.30-10.30) (Tudalennau 7 - 38)  

David Eiser, Cynghorydd i Bwyllgor Cyllid Senedd yr Alban  

 

Briff Ymchwil 

Egwyl: 10.30-10.40  

 

4 Proses y gyllideb ar gyfer deddfwriaeth: Sesiwn dystiolaeth 2 

(10.40-11.40)   

Yr Athro Michael Danson, Athro Polisi Menter, Prifysgol Heriot-Watt 

Dr Angela O'Hagan, Ysgol Busnes a Chymdeithas, Prifysgol Caledonian 

Glasgow  

 

------------------------Pecyn dogfennau cyhoeddus ------------------------



Briff Ymchwil 

Egwyl: 11.40-12.00  

 

5 Proses y gyllideb ar gyfer deddfwriaeth: Sesiwn dystiolaeth 3 

(12.00-12.30) (Tudalennau 39 - 46)  

Caroline Gardner, Archwilydd Cyffredinol yr Alban 

Mark Taylor, Cyfarwyddwr Archwilio, Audit Scotland 

 

Papur 1 - Tystiolaeth ysgrifenedig: Archwilydd Cyffredinol yr Alban  

Briff Ymchwil  

6 Trafod cynigion i ddiwygio Deddf Archwilio Cyhoeddus (Cymru) 

2013: Sesiwn dystiolaeth 1 

(12.30-13.00) (Tudalennau 47 - 79)  

Caroline Gardner, Archwilydd Cyffredinol yr Alban  

Diane McGiffen, Prif Swyddog Gweithredu, Audit Scotland 

 

Papur 2 - Tystiolaeth ysgrifenedig: Archwilydd Cyffredinol yr Alban  

Briff Ymchwil 

7 Cynnig o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.42 i benderfynu gwahardd y 

cyhoedd o weddill y cyfarfod a’r cyfarfod ar 19 Mehefin 2019 

(13.00)   

8 Proses y gyllideb ar gyfer deddfwriaeth: Trafod y dystiolaeth 

(13.00-13.15)   

9 Trafod cynigion i ddiwygio Deddf Archwilio Cyhoeddus (Cymru) 

2013: Trafod y dystiolaeth 

(13.15-13.30)   



Julie Morgan AC/AM 
Y Dirprwy Weinidog Iechyd a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol 
Deputy Minister for Health and Social Services 

1 

Ein cyf: MA L JM 405 19 

Lynne Neagle AC 
Cadeirydd 

Y Pwyllgor Plant, Pobl Ifanc ac Addysg 

Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru, Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1NA 

Llŷr Gruffyrdd AC 

Cadeirydd 

Pwyllgor Cyllid 

Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru, Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1NA 

 31 Mai 2019 

Annwyl Lynne a Llŷr, 

Hoffwn ddiolch i'r Pwyllgor Plant, Pobl Ifanc ac Addysg a'r Pwyllgor Cyllid am y gwaith craffu 
y maent wedi'i wneud hyd yma mewn perthynas â Bil Plant (Diddymu Amddiffyniad Cosb 
Resymol) (Cymru).   

Gan fod y cam gweithredu gan bob Pwyllgor yn ymwneud â darparu manylion pellach am 
ddata'r heddlu a ddefnyddiwyd yn yr Asesiad Effaith Rheoleiddiol, rwy'n rhoi un ymateb sy'n 
cwmpasu camau gweithredu'r ddau Bwyllgor. 

Hyderaf y bydd y wybodaeth a ddarperir yn yr Atodiad i'r llythyr hwn yn ddefnyddiol i'r 
Pwyllgorau wrth i chi barhau i graffu ar y Bil.   

Rwy'n anfon copi o'r llythyr hwn at Gadeirydd y pwyllgor Materion Cyfansoddiadol a 
Deddfwriaethol. 

Yn Gywir 

Julie Morgan AC/AM 

Y Dirprwy Weinidog Iechyd a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol 
Deputy Minister for Health and Social Services 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre: 

0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Julie.Morgan@llyw.cymru 
Correspondence.Julie.Morgan@gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni 
fydd gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and 

corresponding in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Y Pwyllgor Cyllid | Finance Committee 
FIN(5)-16-19 PTN1

Tudalen y pecyn 1

Eitem 2.1

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Julie.Morgan@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Julie.Morgan@gov.wales


ATODIAD 

 Cytunodd y Dirprwy Weinidog i roi eglurhad pellach ynghylch a oedd 
ffigur amcangyfrifedig y Memorandwm Esboniadol o 274 o achosion o 
gosb resymol y rhoddir gwybod i'r heddlu amdanynt bob blwyddyn yn 
cynnwys smacio yn unig, neu smacio fel rhan o amrywiaeth ehangach o 
ymddygiadau. 

 
 
Ar gais Llywodraeth Cymru, cynhaliodd Uned Gyswllt yr Heddlu archwiliad o 
droseddau a gofnodwyd sy'n ymwneud ag Ymosod Cyffredin a Chreulondeb i Blant. 
Mae'r rhain yn ymwneud â throseddau a gofnodwyd yn ardaloedd pedwar heddlu 
Cymru. Nodir y fethodoleg a ddefnyddiwyd gan Uned Gyswllt yr Heddlu yn Atodiad 7 
i'r Memorandwm Esboniadol. Mae heddluoedd yng Nghymru a Lloegr yn 
cydymffurfio â Rheolau Cyfrif y Swyddfa Gartref ar gyfer Troseddau Cofnodedig 
(HOC) yn unig.  
 
Canolbwyntiodd y set ddata ar y canlynol: 
 

 Ymosodiadau Cyffredin a Gofnodwyd (HOC 105/1) lle na fu anaf, (nid yw 
amddiffyniad cosb resymol yn cael ei dderbyn os oes anaf amlwg); 

 Troseddau a Gofnodwyd sy'n ymwneud â Chreulondeb i Blant (HOC 11/3), 
gan fod ymosodiadau ar blant yn gallu ymddangos fel 'troseddau cudd' yn 
ystod ymchwiliad; 

  
Chwiliwyd y data am droseddau yn erbyn plant gan ddefnyddio'r geiriau: 
 

 Smacio ('Smacking'); 

 Slapio ('Slapping'); 

 Taro ('Hitting'); 

 Rheolaeth rhieni ('Parental control'); 

 Ceryddu ('Chastisement');  

 Cosbi ('Punishment') 
 
Drwy drafod ag Uned Gyswllt yr Heddlu rydym ar ddeall ei bod yn bosibl nad oedd y 
ffigur o 274 o achosion o gosb resymol, mewn rhai achosion, yn cynnwys achosion o 
gosb gorfforol yn unig ond y gallai fod yn rhan o set ehangach o faterion megis 
esgeulustod a chamdriniaeth.  
 

 Gofynnodd Pwyllgor CYPE am nodyn manylach ar y gwahaniaethau 
rhwng y ffigurau o Seland Newydd ar gyfer erlyniadau o dan 
ddeddfwriaeth debyg a nodir yn y Memorandwm Esboniadol ac 
amcangyfrifon gan Uned Gyswllt yr Heddlu Cymru sy'n seiliedig ar ddata 
nas cyhoeddwyd.  

 
 

 Cytunodd y Dirprwy Weinidog i roi rhagor o wybodaeth i'r Pwyllgor 
Cyllid am y ffordd y cafodd nifer yr achosion o gosb resymol y rhoddir 
gwybod i'r heddlu amdanynt ei hamcangyfrif a sut mae hyn yn cysylltu â 
nifer yr erlyniadau yng Nghymru bob blwyddyn. 

Tudalen y pecyn 2



 
Defnyddiwyd y ffigurau o Seland Newydd a nodir yn y Memorandwm Esboniadol i 
amcangyfrif nifer yr erlyniadau a allai ddigwydd yng Nghymru petai'r ddeddfwriaeth 
yn cael ei phasio. Erlyn yw lle y caiff unigolyn ei gyhuddo ac y caiff yr achos ei 
ddwyn gerbron llys.   
 
Defnyddiwyd y data gan yr heddlu i amcangyfrif nifer yr achosion y bydd angen i'r 
heddlu ymchwilio iddynt, o bosibl, os caiff y Bil ei basio. Er ein bod wedi gallu 
gweithio gyda'r heddluoedd i nodi'r data gorau posibl ar nifer y troseddau sy'n 
ymwneud â chosbi corfforol gan rieni, nid yw hyn wedi ein galluogi i nodi nifer yr 
achosion a fyddai'n debygol o gael eu dwyn gerbron y llys.  Y rheswm dros hyn yw y 
byddai'r rhan fwyaf yn cael eu datrys cyn cyrraedd y cam hwnnw. Mae'r heddlu a 
Gwasanaeth Erlyn y Goron yn cydbwyso ffactorau o blaid ac yn erbyn erlyn yn ofalus 
iawn. Maent yn ystyried y dystiolaeth a'r hyn sydd er budd y cyhoedd a fydd yn 
cynnwys yr hyn sydd er budd y plentyn. Mewn rhai achosion, mae'n bosibl na fydd yr 
heddlu yn cymryd unrhyw gamau pellach. Mewn achosion eraill mae'n bosibl yr 
ymdrinnir â throsedd drwy warediad y tu allan i'r llys a allai gael ei gynnig gan yr 
heddlu.  
  
Roedd y data a gasglwyd gan heddlu Seland Newydd yn benodol ar gyfer monitro 
effaith y newid yn y gyfraith ac roedd yn cynnwys data ar nifer yr erlyniadau. Felly, 
rydym wedi defnyddio data Seland Newydd fel procsi i amcangyfrif nifer yr 
erlyniadau a allai ddigwydd petai'r gyfraith yng Nghymru yn newid. 
  
Nodir manylion pellach am y ffordd y datblygwyd y ffigurau hyn yn y Memorandwm 
Esboniadol. Cyfeiriaf hefyd at y ffigurau hyn yn fy llythyr i'r Pwyllgor ar 25 Ebrill.  
   
 
Data Seland Newydd ar erlyniadau 
 
Yn Seland Newydd, daeth Deddf Diwygio Troseddau (Adran 59 a Amnewidiwyd) 
2007 [Crimes (Substituted Section 59) Amendment Act 2007] i rym ar 22 Mehefin 
2007. Diben y ddeddfwriaeth oedd atal rhieni rhag defnyddio grym i gosbi plant. 
 
Yn Seland Newydd cyhoeddodd yr heddlu ddata ar nifer yr achosion y rhoddwyd 
gwybod iddynt amdanynt yn y tri mis cyn i'r gyfraith newid a'r pum mlynedd ar ôl 
hynny.   
 
Gan nad oes unrhyw ddata dibynadwy eraill i amcangyfrif nifer yr erlyniadau a allai 
ddigwydd yng Nghymru o ganlyniad i'r ddeddfwriaeth, mae data'r heddlu o Seland 
Newydd wedi'u defnyddio fel procsi i amcangyfrif nifer yr achosion a allai gael eu 
herlyn yng Nghymru yn ystod y pum mlynedd ar ôl i'r ddeddfwriaeth ddod i rym.  
Datblygwyd asesiad o'r effaith ar gyfiawnder mewn ymgynghoriad â'r Weinyddiaeth 
Gyfiawnder.  Roedd hyn yn cynnwys amcangyfrif y costau i'r system gyfiawnder gan 
ddefnyddio data Seland Newydd fel procsi.  Cytunwyd ar y dull hwn o weithredu â'r 
Weinyddiaeth Gyfiawnder.  
 
Er bod Cymru a Seland Newydd yn rhannu nifer o nodweddion tebyg, gyda'r ddwy 
awdurdodaeth yn seiliedig ar gyfraith gwlad, ceir nifer o wahaniaethau hefyd, y mae 

Tudalen y pecyn 3



angen eu hystyried.  Mae’r rhain yn cynnwys: 
 

 Gwahaniaethau rhwng y Ddeddfwriaeth yn Seland Newydd a'r hyn a gynigir 
yng Nghymru; 

 Mae systemau gorfodi'r gyfraith yn Seland Newydd yn wahanol i'r hyn a geir 
yng Nghymru; 

 Oedran y plentyn a gwmpesir gan y ddeddfwriaeth; 

 Gwahaniaethau rhwng poblogaethau'r ddwy wlad;  

 Cymorth rhianta a chodi ymwybyddiaeth o'r ddeddfwriaeth.   
 
Yn ystod pum mlynedd y cyfnod adolygu, cafwyd wyth erlyniad am ‘smacio’ a 55 am 
‘fân-gamau disgyblu corfforol’, sef cyfanswm o 63 o erlyniadau yn Seland Newydd. 
Felly, oherwydd y gwahaniaethau rhwng maint y poblogaethau yng Nghymru a 
Seland Newydd, rydym wedi amcangyfrif y bydd 37 neu 38 o erlyniadau dros gyfnod 
o bum mlynedd yng Nghymru.  
 
Yn Seland Newydd ni fu unrhyw ymgyrch addysgol benodol nac unrhyw ymgyrch 
benodol yn y cyfryngau i esbonio'r newid yn y gyfraith. Yng Nghymru, rydym wedi 
gwneud ymrwymiad i godi ymwybyddiaeth o'r newid yn y gyfraith (os caiff ei basio) 
ac, felly, rydym yn rhagweld y byddai nifer yr achosion a gaiff eu herlyn yn lleihau 
dros amser.  
 
Esbonnir hyn ymhellach ar dudalennu 8-9 o'r Asesiad o'r Effaith ar Gyfiawnder ac ym 
Mhennod 8 o'r Memorandwm Esboniadol. 
 
 
Data'r heddlu ar ymchwiliadau 
 
Cynhaliodd y pedwar heddlu yng Nghymru, ar y cyd ag Uned Gyswllt yr Heddlu, 
archwiliad ôl-syllol o droseddau a gofnodwyd yn ymwneud ag Ymosod Cyffredin a 
Chreulondeb i Blant a oedd yn cwmpasu cyfnod o 19 mis (Ebrill 2017 – Rhagfyr 
2018). Hidlodd yr heddlu y wybodaeth drwy ddefnyddio'r termau penodol a nodir 
uchod, lle roedd y troseddwr yn oedolyn a'r dioddefwr yn blentyn, a lle roedd y bwlch 
oedran rhwng y ddau yn fwy na 3 blynedd. 
 
Dadansoddodd yr heddlu sampl o'r canlyniadau â llaw er mwyn canfod pa gyfran a 
oedd yn ymwneud â chosb resymol, a nodwyd bod un o bob saith/wyth yn ymwneud 
â'r drosedd honno, yn dibynnu ar yr heddlu penodol. Nododd yr heddlu faint sampl 
i'w adolygu a oedd yn ddigon mawr i roi lefel hyder o 95% yn ei amcangyfrif y byddai 
274 o droseddau a gâi eu nodi gan y chwiliad yn ymwneud â chosb gorfforol. Byddai 
lwfans cyfeiliornad bach (±25 o droseddau) yn gysylltiedig â'r amcangyfrif hwn.  
 
Cyfrifwyd maint posibl y cynnydd drwy gyfeirio at ddata Seland Newydd, ar y sail y 
byddai achosion a oedd wedi'u dosbarthu yn Seland Newydd fel  ‘smacio’ neu ‘fân-
gamau disgyblu corfforol’ yn cyfateb, fwy na thebyg, i droseddau ar lefel ‘cosb 
resymol’ yng Nghymru.  Mae'r tabl ym Mhennod 8 (sydd â'r Pennawd Heddlu) o'r 
Memorandwm Esboniadol yn esbonio, ar gyfartaledd, fod achosion yn digwydd 
ddwywaith yn amlach yn y pum mlynedd ar ôl i'r ddeddfwriaeth gychwyn yn Seland 
Newydd.  Mae cynnydd cyfartalog wedi'i ddefnyddio am nad oedd cyfnodau adrodd 
yn Seland Newydd yn unffurf dros y cyfnod adrodd o bum mlynedd. 

Tudalen y pecyn 4



 
Drwy'r Grŵp Gweithredu caiff rhagor o waith ei wneud gyda’r heddlu, a rhanddeiliaid 
allweddol eraill, i gytuno ar y dull o gasglu data cyn i'r gyfraith newid (os caiff y Bil ei 
basio) ac ar ôl hynny, gyda'r bwriad o ddatblygu'r llinell sylfaen a gofynion monitro yn 
y dyfodol. 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 5



06 Mehefin 2019 

Annwyl Llyr, 

Taliadau cadw mewn contractau adeiladu 

Diolch am eich llythyr dyddiedig 16 Mai, sy'n cynnig cynnal gwaith ar y cyd ar 
daliadau cadw mewn contractau adeiladu. 

Dyma ysgrifennu atoch i'ch hysbysu bod Pwyllgor yr Economi, Seilwaith a Sgiliau 
yn cydnabod pwysigrwydd y pwnc hwn, ac y byddai'n hapus i wneud gwaith ar y 
cyd gyda'r Pwyllgor Cyllid. 

Rwyf wedi gofyn i Gareth Price, Clerc y Pwyllgor hwn, gysylltu â Chlerc y Pwyllgor 
Cyllid er mwyn trefnu cyfarfod i drafod y camau nesaf. 

Yn gywir, 

Russell George AC 
Cadeirydd 
Pwyllgor yr Economi, Seilwaith a Sgiliau 

Llyr Gruffydd AC 
Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Cyllid 

Y Pwyllgor Cyllid | Finance Committee 
FIN(5)-16-19 PTN2

Tudalen y pecyn 6

Eitem 2.2



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 7

Eitem 3Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



National Assembly for Wales – Finance Committee 

Written submission by the Auditor General for Scotland on the 

Scottish budget process  

Introduction 

1. I welcome the opportunity to contribute to the Finance Committee’s consideration of the

legislative budget process.

2. I was a member of the Budget Process Review Group (BPRG), which carried out a

fundamental review of the Scottish Parliament’s budget process. A revised process

based on the recommendations of the BPRG was introduced last year, for the 2019/20

budget. This submission reflects my experience as a member of the BPRG. I look

forward to discussing these issues further with the Committee on 13 June 2019.

Background 

Previous budget process 

3. The Scottish Parliament has always had a legislative budget process. The UK

Government established the Financial Issues Advisory Group (FIAG) in 1998 to develop

proposals for the new Scottish Parliament’s budgetary process. FIAG outlined a set of

principles for the process (Appendix 1). It recommended a statutory annual budget

process that was designed to give the Parliament’s committees the opportunity to

comment on Scottish Government spending plans at several points during the year. It

proposed an annual three-stage approach to scrutinising and approving the

Government’s spending proposals:

• April to June - discussion of strategic priorities for the following financial year

• September to December - consideration of the Scottish Government’s draft

budget and opportunity to suggest alternative tax and spending proposals

• January to February - scrutiny of the Budget Bill.

Rationale for change 

4. The process has continually evolved since it was introduced in 1999, but more

fundamental changes were needed to accommodate the devolution of tax and spending

powers through the 2012 and 2016 Scotland Acts. Before these powers were devolved,

budget scrutiny focused on Scottish Government plans to spend the block grant

allocation from the UK Government. The new financial powers saw a shift from a

spending parliament to one that needs to balance spending and revenue, while

managing increased complexity, volatility and uncertainty. This placed increased

emphasis on the importance of parliamentary committee’s budget scrutiny.

5. The changing landscape for the public finances meant that there was a need to

transform the budget process. This also provided an opportunity to address some

weaknesses in the process. The Scottish Budget has always been published after the

UK Budget and spending reviews, so the timetable for budget scrutiny depends on the

timing of UK fiscal events. On seven occasions since devolution, the Scottish Draft

Budget was published later than September. This reduced the time available for budget

scrutiny and was a cause of concern for parliamentary committees.

Y Pwyllgor Cyllid | Finance Committee 
FIN(5)-16-19 P1

Tudalen y pecyn 39

Eitem 5



6. The discussion of strategic priorities before the Draft Budget was published never 

worked as intended by FIAG and became largely overlooked. This limited the level of 

parliamentary influence on the formulation of the budget. In practice, scrutiny did not 

begin until the Scottish Government’s detailed spending proposals were published in 

the Draft Budget. At this stage, scrutiny tended to focus on budgetary changes in a 

single year. There was little emphasis on evaluating the impact of previous budgets or 

looking ahead to future budgets.  

7. The impact of new financial powers and the operation of the fiscal framework on the 

Scottish budget, along with the scope to improve budget scrutiny, meant that both the 

Scottish Parliament and Scottish Government supported revisions to the budget 

process. They encouraged a transformative approach to reviewing the whole process 

rather than updating or amending existing steps in the process.  

Budget Process Review Group  

Establishing the group 

8. In its legacy paper at the end of the previous session of the Parliament, the Finance 

Committee recommended that “Scottish Parliament and Scottish Government officials 

work together to review the budget process in the first instance with a view to bringing 

forward proposals for any changes for consideration by our successor and Ministers. 

This should include addressing the issue of tax changes and the balance between 

scrutiny of revenue and expenditure.”1 

9. In September 2016, the new Finance and Constitution Committee and the Cabinet 

Secretary for Finance and the Constitution agreed to establish a group with the 

following remit:  

“To carry out a fundamental review of the Scottish Parliament’s budget process 

following the devolution of further powers in the Scotland Act 2012 and Scotland Act 

2016. To bring forward proposals for a revised budget process which are consistent 

as far as possible with the principles of the Financial Issues Advisory Group for 

consideration by the Finance Committee and the Cabinet Secretary for Finance and 

the Constitution.”  

10. The clerks of the Finance and Constitution Committee and Scottish Government 

officials jointly led the establishment of the BPRG. They identified potential members 

and proposed the scope and timing of the group’s work. The joint lead taken by the 

Parliament and Government in calling for a review of the existing budget process and 

investing time and resources in its work was essential to the success of the BPRG and 

the adoption of its recommendations.  

11. Membership of the BPRG included four officials from the Scottish Parliament, four 

officials from finance directorates in the Scottish Government and eight expert advisors. 

This provided a good balance between officials and advisors and ensured a range of 

views around the table from people with relevant knowledge and experience. Once the 

BPRG was established, the expert advisors were able to influence and shape the work 

of the group.  

 

                                                           
1 Finance Committee legacy paper, March 2016 

https://www.parliament.scot/S4_FinanceCommittee/Reports/FIS042016R06.pdf  

Tudalen y pecyn 40

https://www.parliament.scot/S4_FinanceCommittee/Reports/FIS042016R06.pdf


Work of the group  

12. The scope of the review was to: 

• assess the likely impact of the new financial powers on the effectiveness of the 

existing budget process  

• devise a revised budget process that addresses the increased level of financial 

responsibility within the context of the FIAG principles.  

13. The first meeting of the BPRG, at the end of September 2016, was introduced by the 

Cabinet Secretary for Finance and the Constitution, the Convenor of the Finance 

Committee and the Scottish Government’s Director General Finance. They highlighted 

their commitment to transforming the budget process and support for the BPRG. This 

set a constructive tone, empowering the group to explore options and make 

independent recommendations.  

14. At its first meeting, the BPRG agreed to the scope and timings of the review as 

proposed by the Scottish Parliament and Scottish Government. Steered by the expert 

advisors, the group agreed a range of principles that would guide its work and the 

issues that it wanted to consider at future meetings. The group agreed its initial work 

programme, including specific information it required to help inform the review and 

people it wanted to invite to give evidence.  

15. The BPRG met 11 times between September 2016 and June 2017. During this time, it 

took oral evidence from 20 people including academics and representatives from 

organisations such as the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development 

(OECD) and the Institute of Fiscal Studies. The group also held a workshop on an 

outcomes-based approach to budget scrutiny and commissioned research on 

international best practice in budget scrutiny. 

16. To widen the evidence base further, the group published an interim report for 

consultation.2 This provided an opportunity for wider civic engagement in the review. 

The group received 26 written submissions, including ones from other Scottish 

Parliament committees, public bodies, councils and representative organisations. 

Taking an evidence-led approach to the review, based on contributions from a wide 

range of stakeholders, helped the group to agree a set of recommendations that were 

ambitious but achievable.  

17. Although the group was encouraged to take a transformative approach to reviewing the 

whole budget process, it was important to recognise what was already working well. 

Some of the BPRG’s recommendations were based on retaining elements of the 

existing process and building on what some committees were already doing around 

budget scrutiny. The group was also clear that it would take time to implement any 

changes, given the complexity of the issues and the cultural change required.  

18. The BPRG reported its findings in June 2017.3 This included 59 recommendations, 

designed to transform the Scottish budget process. I and another member of the BPRG 

contributed to the Finance Committee’s evidence session on the report in September 

                                                           
2 Budget Process Review Group interim report, March 2017 

https://www.parliament.scot/S5_Finance/Reports/2017.03.10_BPRG_Interim_Report_(1).pdf  
3 Budget Process Review Group final report, June 2017 

http://www.parliament.scot/S5_Finance/Reports/BPRG_-_Final_Report_30.06.17.pdf  

Tudalen y pecyn 41

https://www.parliament.scot/S5_Finance/Reports/2017.03.10_BPRG_Interim_Report_(1).pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/S5_Finance/Reports/BPRG_-_Final_Report_30.06.17.pdf


2017.4 The Convenor highlighted the role of the external advisors in developing the 

group’s recommendations and noted that the BPRG provided a positive example of 

parliament, government and civic society working together to find a successful way 

forward. 

Revised Scottish budget process  

19. The Finance and Constitution Committee and the Cabinet Secretary for Finance and 

the Constitution welcomed the recommendations of the BPRG and agreed to implement 

them in full. In May 2018, the Scottish Parliament backed changes to the budget 

process, and this was set out in a revised written agreement between the Scottish 

Government and the Finance and Constitution Committee.5 The revised process was 

introduced for the 2019/20 budget.   

20. At the heart of the new budget process is a framework that supports a more strategic 

approach to scrutiny with the following features:   

• Full year approach - a broader process in which committees have the flexibility to 

incorporate budget scrutiny including public engagement into their work prior to the 

publication of firm and detailed spending proposals.  

• Continuous cycle - an emphasis on developing an understanding of the impact of 

budgetary decisions over a number of years including budgetary trends.  

• Output/outcome focused - an emphasis on what budgets have achieved and aim to 

achieve over the long term, including scrutiny of equalities outcomes.  

• Fiscal responsibility - a longer-term outlook with a focus on prioritisation and 

addressing fiscal constraints and increasing demand for public services.  

• Inter-dependent – more of a focus on the inter-dependent nature of many of the 

policies which the budget is seeking to deliver.  

21. The main elements of the new budget cycle are shown in Exhibit 1. A key part of the 

new process is the extended budget evaluation and formulation stage from March to 

November. This involves parliamentary committees looking back to explore what is 

working and looking forward to identify the issues and challenges, and considering what 

this should mean for future budgets. This is intended to allow committees to influence 

the content of budget proposals up front, both through discussion at the committee and 

by setting out their views in a pre-budget report. The pre-budget reports, which are to 

be prepared at least six weeks before publication of the Scottish Budget, should set out 

individual committees’ views on the delivery and funding of existing policy priorities, any 

proposed changes and how these should be funded. This then plays into the formal 

parliamentary process around the budget itself. 

22. The Scottish Budget document should include a summary of how committees’ pre-

budget reports have influenced the budget. Ministers are required to provide a more 

detailed written response to each committee within five sitting days of publication of the 

budget. They may also be invited to provide oral evidence to their respective 

committees.  

                                                           
4 Finance and Constitution Committee official report, September 2017 (column 27 to 46) 

http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=11105&mode=pdf  
5 Budget process agreement between the Scottish Government and Finance and Constitution 

Committee 

https://www.parliament.scot/S5_Finance/General%20Documents/20180517WA_with_SG.pdf  

Tudalen y pecyn 42

http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=11105&mode=pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_Finance/General%20Documents/20180517WA_with_SG.pdf


Exhibit 1: Revised Scottish budget process 

 

Source: Scottish Parliament Information Centre  

Legislative process 

23. The BPRG considered the timing of the publication of the Scottish Budget and the 

implications for the time available for scrutiny. It concluded that publishing the Scottish 

Budget prior to the UK Budget would be counter-productive due to the increased levels 

of uncertainty introduced by the fiscal framework. It therefore recommended that more 

time is built into the budget cycle for ongoing parliamentary scrutiny, and the Scottish 

Budget will continue to be published after the UK Budget. The main difference in 

approach is that a draft budget is no longer published, as committees’ pre-budget 

scrutiny should feed into the formulation of the Scottish Budget document. Although the 

timings are not fixed, normally the Scottish Budget will be published no more than three 

weeks after publication of the UK Budget and the Budget Bill will be introduced one 

week later.  

24. The legislative process following publication of the Budget Bill, and the timescales for 

this, remain largely the same as they were (Appendix 2). Only the Government can 

propose amendments to the Bill. Committees and individual members can express their 

views on revenue and spending proposals through reasoned amendments to the 

Scottish Government’s motion on the general principles of the Budget Bill at stage one. 

There was no change to the existing procedure that only Ministers can lodge 

amendments to the Budget Bill at stages two and three. The BPRG carefully considered 

other options and concluded that this approach provides the right balance between 

meaningful parliamentary influence in setting the budget and overall Government 

control of the public finances.  

25. To enhance the role of committees once the Budget Bill has been introduced, there is 

now a debate on committees’ pre-budget scrutiny before the stage one debate on the 

Budget Bill. This debate in the chamber, led by the Finance and Constitution 

Committee, provides an opportunity for Convenors of each committee to highlight 

Tudalen y pecyn 43



issues from their budget scrutiny and for the Cabinet Secretary for Finance, Economy 

and Fair Work to respond.  

26. Currently, different legislative and non-legislative mechanisms are used to set or amend 

tax rates and bands and authorise the collection of revenue. Views received by the 

BPRG suggested that these approaches may not be flexible enough to allow a timely 

and effective response, particularly where tax measures need to be introduced quickly 

or minor amendments are needed to existing primary legislation. The group 

recommended that the Finance and Constitution Committee, Scottish Government and 

Revenue Scotland explore options for alternative legislative processes for devolved 

taxes. This work is continuing. 

27. The BPRG considered whether all revenue related powers should be collectively 

included in a Finance Bill. The UK Government’s annual Finance Bill provides a single 

legislative vehicle for revenue related changes requiring primary legislation, for both 

new taxes and changes to existing taxes. It allows for the UK Government to amend 

taxes in advance of parliamentary scrutiny of the draft legislation to deliver changes. 

The BPRG recognised that there may be good reasons for the introduction of a Finance 

Bill and recommended that the Scottish Government and Finance and Constitution 

Committee examine this further and bring forward any proposals by the end of the 

current Parliament in 2021.  

Conclusion 

28. The first cycle of the new budget process completed with the passing of the 2019/20 

budget in February 2019, two and a half years after the BPRG was established. This 

marked a significant shift in approach to budget scrutiny and created momentum, which 

provides a good foundation on which to build. The BPRG recommended 

transformational changes that will take time to implement fully. I expect the budget 

process to continue to evolve during the current parliamentary session, as the new 

approaches and ways of working bed in. 

29. The review of the budget process provided an opportunity to create financial scrutiny 

processes that are world class, reflecting international best practice in a way that suits 

Scotland. Balancing our aspirations for what the process might achieve with the 

practicalities of implementation will require both ambition and realism.  

 

Caroline Gardner 

Auditor General for Scotland 

May 2019 

  

Tudalen y pecyn 44

https://www.theyworkforyou.com/glossary/?gl=108


 

Appendix 1: Financial Issues Advisory Group principles 

 

The Financial Issues Advisory Group stated that any Scottish budgeting system should be 

capable of:  

 

• providing opportunities for the Parliament to comment on expenditure priorities 

and to influence the Governments’ preparation of budgets  

• providing the opportunity for the public to have the opportunity to put their views 

to subject committees, as well as individual MSPs at an early stage in the 

process 

• providing sufficient time for the Parliament to consider and debate proposals 

fully 

• providing balance between the requirement for parliamentary scrutiny and the 

needs of the Executive 

• providing some degree of certainty so that on-going activities can continue 

without prolonged uncertainty 

• providing an efficient mechanism to deliver motions to be debated by the 

Parliament 

• providing a meaningful role for subject committees and the Finance Committee 

• delivering timeous decisions on tax varying powers and the budget (as well as 

the interim spending approval and budget amendments) 

• engaging all MSPs 

• facilitating the Executive’s formulation of proposals 

• providing for the right of amendment. 

 

  

Tudalen y pecyn 45



 

Appendix 2: Timeline of the Scottish legislative budget process 

 

 

 

Autumn 

• UK Budget published

3 weeks later

• Scottish Budget published
(with accompanying documents) 

1 week later

• Budget Bill introduced 
(usually before December recess)

January 

• Budget Bill reasoned amendments - committees may 
suggest alternative revenue and spending proposals  

January 

• Stage 1 debate - committee conveners move any 
reasoned amendments (if selected by Presiding Officer)

February 

• Stage 2 & 3 debates - Scottish Government may lodge 
amendments

February 

• Budget Bill passed

Tudalen y pecyn 46



Providing services to the Auditor General for Scotland and the Accounts Commission 

4th Floor 
102 West Port 
Edinburgh  EH3 9DN 

T: 0131 625 1500 
E: info@audit-scotland.gov.uk 
www.audit-scotland.gov.uk 

Llyr Gruffydd AM 
Chair  
Finance Committee 
National Assembly for Wales 

By email  

22 May 2019 

Dear Llyr 

Public Audit (Wales) Act 2013 

Thank you for inviting me to provide written evidence to inform your post-legislative scrutiny of the 
Public Audit (Wales) Act.  In relation to the issues set out in point 1 of your letter, I thought it would be 
helpful to provide some information on how funding and fee-setting for public audit operate in 
Scotland. 

Fee income represents approximately 71% of Audit Scotland’s total funding, with the remainder 
coming from the Scottish Consolidated Fund. Audit Scotland has a statutory duty under the Public 
Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 to seek to broadly break even on audit work that is 
charged for, taking one year with another, either for each audit or for classes of audits. Audit Scotland 
treats each sector (e.g. local government, health) as a class of audits. Audit fees are set with the 
objective of recovering the full cost of audit work in each sector. I have attached a copy of our funding 
and fees strategy for information. 

The principles of the funding and fee setting arrangements are designed to underpin the delivery of 
high quality, independent public audit in Scotland while demonstrating accountability for the public 
money involved. Enclosed is a copy of our Fees & Funding Strategy for reference. 
The objectives are as follows: 

• Comply with the Public Finance and Accountability Act

• Maintain the independence of auditors

• Reflect the way in which public services are organised and audited

• Minimise volatility from year to year without reason

• Transparent and easy to understand

• Simple to operate

• Sustainable

Audit Scotland is not able to hold reserves. Within this constraint, the flexibility provided by the 
legislation to broadly break even for classes of audit enables Audit Scotland to manage its business 
effectively by: 

• Supporting differences between years in the overall amount of work performed in each sector

• Recognising the extent of cross sector joint working and the judgemental nature of allocating
this between sectors

• Recognising the need to apportion overheads between sectors

• Smoothing changes in fee levels from year to year to reduce volatility and provide
predictability

• Providing flexibility to manage the difference between the financial year and the audit year.

Y Pwyllgor Cyllid | Finance Committee 
FIN(5)-16-19 P2 

Tudalen y pecyn 47

Eitem 6



Providing services to the Auditor General for Scotland and the Accounts Commission 

I hope that this information is helpful to your enquiry, and I look forward to meeting you and the 
Committee in June. 

Yours sincerely 

Caroline Gardner 
Auditor General for Scotland 

Tudalen y pecyn 48



Fee Strategy 

December 2016 

Tudalen y pecyn 49



Audit Scotland is a statutory body set up in April 2000 under the Public Finance and Accountability 

(Scotland) Act 2000. It provides services to the Auditor General for Scotland and the Accounts 

Commission. Together they ensure that the Scottish Government and public sector bodies in 

Scotland are held to account for the proper, efficient and effective use of public funds. 

Tudalen y pecyn 50



 

 

 

 Page 3 

 

Contents 

Key messages ............................................................................................................................... 4 

Introduction ................................................................................................................................... 5 

Review of fee setting arrangements ............................................................................................ 7 

Fee setting arrangements ............................................................................................................ 9 

Objectives of the fee setting arrangements ....................................................................... 9 

Audit work that is subject to fees ....................................................................................... 9 

Fee setting process and governance ............................................................................... 10 

Calculating audit fees ...................................................................................................... 10 

Audit fees for 2016/17 audits ...................................................................................................... 13 

Fee levels ........................................................................................................................ 13 

Future years .................................................................................................................... 14 

Hourly rates ..................................................................................................................... 14 

Annex 1 ........................................................................................................................................ 16 

Legislative provisions relating to Audit Scotland charges ................................................ 16 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 51



Key messages 

 

 

Page 4  

 

Key messages 
 

 We have completed a review of funding and fee setting arrangements.  

 We carried out a successful audit procurement exercise leading to new audit 

appointments being made for the 2016/17 to 2020/21 audits.  

 Our aim is to deliver independent, consistent, high quality, wider scope public 

audits whilst achieving best value in our use of resources. 

 We will reduce average fee levels for the 2016/17 audits by 6.7% (8.6% in real 

terms).  

 This is on top of a 24% reduction on average in real terms between 2010/11 and 

2015/16 audits.  

 We expect to make further real terms reductions in fee levels for 2017/18 and 

2018/19 audits. 

 Our 2017/18 budget proposal includes the transfer of funding for NHS performance 

audit from audit fees to the SCF. We will reduce audit fees to the NHS by the same 

amount.  
  

Tudalen y pecyn 52



Introduction 

 

 

 Page 5 

 

Introduction 
1. This fee strategy supports Audit Scotland's 2017/18 budget proposal, sets out our approach 

to setting fees and the fee levels for 2016/17 and future audits. 

2. Audit Scotland’s principal statutory function is to provide services to the Auditor General and 

the Accounts Commission. They appoint independent external auditors to most public bodies 

in Scotland and determine the scope of audit work through the Code of Audit Practice.  

3. We are funded by a combination of fees to audited bodies and funding from the Scottish 

Consolidated Fund (SCF). Audit Scotland is responsible for setting audit fees, which make 

up around 75% of total income.  

4. Fee income forms part of our annual budget submission to the Scottish Parliament. The 

budget proposal is subject to scrutiny by the Scottish Commission for Public Audit, a 

commission of the Scottish Parliament, and forms part of the annual Budget Act approved by 

the Parliament. Whilst the budget proposal is for financial years running from 1 April to 31 

March the majority of annual audit work covers a period from November to October. We set 

fees for each audit and therefore each budget includes fees for parts of two annual audit 

cycles. 

5. Annual audits are undertaken by Audit Scotland staff and private firms appointed by the 

Auditor General and the Accounts Commission. Performance audits are carried out by Audit 

Scotland staff with assistance from external specialists and appointed auditors where 

appropriate. 

6. To support our vision of world class high quality audit and to maintain independence, 

auditors are rotated every five years. During 2015/16 we carried out an audit procurement 

exercise leading to appointments of in house teams and external firms being made to over 

220 bodies for the 2016/17 to 2020/21 audits. 

7. During 2016 we completed a review of funding and fee setting arrangements to ensure that 

our approach is appropriate for our current environment at the start of a new round of audit 

appointments. The review confirmed that many of the principles already in place remain 

appropriate but found that we could improve the transparency and understanding of the fee 

setting arrangements.  

8. The overall aims of our Fee strategy are to: 

 enable Audit Scotland to meet its statutory and professional obligations as independent 

external auditors of public bodies in Scotland  

 support Audit Scotland in meeting its corporate vision of being a World Class audit 

organisation providing high quality public audit in Scotland, whilst keeping charges to the 

minimum necessary; and 

 establish a transparent framework for the setting of fees and charges in a stable and 

predictable way. 

Tudalen y pecyn 53



Introduction 

 

 

Page 6  

 

9. This document explains the objectives and principles adopted in setting fees and charges 

following the review and applies these to the setting of fees for 2016/17 and future audits. 

10. The fee strategy is based on the public sector landscape in autumn 2016. There are likely to 

be changes to our workload in the medium term as a result of the new devolved taxation and 

social security powers, any change in the public sector landscape and the outcome of the 

referendum on EU membership. We continue to work with the relevant audited bodies and 

any implications for fee levels will be considered as details of their timing and impact become 

clearer. 

11. We will review the operation of this fee strategy after two years and undertake a full review in 

advance of the next audit appointment round. 
  

Tudalen y pecyn 54



Review of fee setting arrangements 

 

 

 Page 7 

 

 
Review of fee setting 
arrangements 

12. Audit Scotland's vision is to be a world class audit organisation that improves the use of 

public money. 

 

13. We have reviewed our approach to funding our work and the fee setting arrangements to 

improve transparency and make them easier to understand and operate. These new 

arrangements apply from the 2016/17 audits, the first year of new audit appointments. 

14. The review work has taken account of a number of changes including: 

 Revised and enhanced auditing standards which have increased the minimum amount of 

work required to conduct a fully standards compliant audit.  

 Developments in technology in both accounting and auditing which have streamlined 

audits of the largest bodies. 

 Increased expectations in auditing or reviewing governance statements, remuneration 

reports and strategic reports/management commentaries. 

 Changes in the structure and organisation of the public sector, such as the reform of 

police and fire services and the creation of Integration Joint Boards for the delivery of 

health and social care. 

Tudalen y pecyn 55



Review of fee setting arrangements 

 

 

Page 8  

 

15. As part of the review process we consulted with audited bodies and other stakeholders on 

proposed principles for setting fees and received substantial support for the principles from 

those bodies that responded. The consultation responses: 

 Agreed that audit fees should be set with the objective of recovering the full cost of audit 

in each sector. 

 Supported the principle that an audited body should pay the same fee irrespective of who 

is appointed to deliver the audit. 

 Agreed that some costs therefore be pooled across each sector.  

16. The review and consultation also found that, while the arrangements for most work were 

appropriate and well understood, there was scope to reconsider the funding of NHS 

performance audit work. Currently 60% of the cost of this work is funded from the Scottish 

Consolidated Fund (SCF) and 40% by NHS boards. This approach was put in place after the 

creation of the Scottish Parliament. Prior to this, NHS Boards paid for all NHS performance 

audit work. This arrangement is different from the other sectors within the remit of the Auditor 

General where all performance audit costs are met from SCF funding. 

17. Audit Scotland's 2017/18 Budget paper proposes that all funding for this work should come 

from the SCF. This will bring the funding of NHS performance audit work into line with the 

other areas of the Auditor General's remit and increase transparency and simplicity. The 

overall impact on public finances and Audit Scotland's total income is neutral as the increase 

in SCF funding will be matched by a reduction in fees to NHS bodies. (If the proposal is not 

accepted then the reduction in NHS fees will be £495,000 less than shown in this paper and 

the 2017/18 Budget proposal). 

18. In order to achieve the objectives of the fee setting arrangements a number of costs are 

pooled and shared between all audited bodies within a sector or across all sectors. The 

review considered the differences in approach to cost sharing that had built up incrementally 

over a number of years and this has resulted in simpler and more consistent approach to the 

charging of these costs. 

19. We also reviewed and revised the costs of individual audits using information on the actual 

cost of delivering the audits in recent years. In most sectors this will result in increases for 

some smaller bodies and reductions for larger bodies. 

20. We will revise the way in which audit fees are presented and explained to audited bodies 

and the mechanism for agreeing adjustments to fees to reflect local circumstances. 

21. The outcome of our review is the revised approach to fee setting described in this paper 

which is more consistent across sectors, transparent and sustainable. 

 

  

Tudalen y pecyn 56



Fee setting arrangements 

 

 

 Page 9 

 

Fee setting arrangements 
Objectives of the fee setting arrangements 

22. The overall aim of the fee setting arrangements is to support Audit Scotland in providing high 

quality independent public audit in Scotland whilst keeping charges to the minimum 

necessary. The objectives for the arrangements are that they: 

 comply with statute 

 maintain the independence of auditors 

 reflect the way in which public services are organised and audited 

 are transparent and easy to understand 

 are simple to operate 

 are sustainable 

 minimise the volatility of fee changes between years. 

23. Audit Scotland is required to aim to broadly break even on audit work that is charged for 

taking one year with another either for each audit or for classes of audits. We have 

determined each sector as being a class of audits. 

24. Audit Scotland considers that audit fees should be set with the objective of recovering the full 

cost of audit work in each sector. Within sectors there may be a degree of cross sharing, for 

example where the costs of travel and subsistence are pooled across a sector. 

25. Audit appointments are made by the Auditor General or the Accounts Commission rather 

than by audited bodies themselves thereby enhancing the independence of external audit. 

The identity or location of the appointed auditor could affect the total cost of undertaking the 

audit if we did not take steps to ensure that, as far as possible, bodies pay the same audit 

fee irrespective of who carries out the audit by pooling some costs.   

Audit work that is subject to fees 

26. The fee setting arrangements cover all local government audit work and the costs of annual 

audit work in the NHS, central government, Scottish Water and further education colleges. 

The same principles are used to calculate notional fees for the central government audits 

that we cannot charge for. 

27. Parliamentary funding pays for all performance audit work in central government, further 

education and Scottish Water, and, subject to approval of our 2017/18 Budget proposal, the 

cost of NHS performance audit work. It also pays for the costs of Audit Scotland's work to 

support parliament and its committees, the annual audits of the central government audits 

(that we cannot charge for), the National Fraud Initiative and the costs of the Auditor 

General, Accounts Commission and Audit Scotland Board. 

Tudalen y pecyn 57



Fee setting arrangements 

 

 

Page 10  

 

28. Local government is a separate tier of government and the Accounts Commission appoints 

auditors and oversees performance and best value audit arrangements. Local government 

funding includes an amount for scrutiny costs such as audit and therefore local government 

bodies pay for all audit work across the sector. For more information see paras 36-38 below. 

Fee setting process and governance 

29. Fee setting is one part of the annual budget process. The legislative provisions relating to 

charging are set out in Annex 1. 

30. Budget proposals, including levels of charges, are presented to the Audit Scotland Board for 

discussion and approval, normally in mid-September, before being submitted to the SCPA 

for consideration as part of the Budget Bill process. 

31. Because charges are set for audit years that run from approximately November to October, 

the fee setting process for each financial year covers two audit years. Therefore in 

September 2016, Audit Scotland confirmed the levels of charges for the 2016/17 audits 

which were provisionally set as part of the 2016/17 financial year budget in September 2015. 

We also indicate our plans for charges over the next two audit years. 

Calculating audit fees 

32. Audited bodies will receive a breakdown of the total audit fee from 2016/17 audits as shown 

below: 

£  Current year  Prior year 

Auditor remuneration --,--- --,--- 

Pooled costs -,--- -,--- 

Performance audit & best 

value (where relevant) 

-,--- -,--- 

Audit support costs -,--- -,--- 

Total Expected fee --,--- --,--- 

Auditor remuneration 

33. The auditor remuneration element for an individual body is based on our assessment of the 

audit input likely to be required to deliver an audit that complies with the Code of Audit 

Practice for a body of that size facing the normal risks in that part of the public sector. The 

fee takes account of actual recent costs of carrying out the audit and assumes that the body: 

 is well governed 

 has effective internal controls; and  

 prepares complete draft accounts in accordance with the agreed timetable. 

Tudalen y pecyn 58



Fee setting arrangements 

 

 

 Page 11 

 

34. Auditors and audited bodies can agree remuneration up to 10% above the level set, either 

where local circumstances mean that the implicit assumptions are not being met, or where 

significant local issues require additional work to be undertaken, for example a new and 

complex accounting issue or a history of accounting errors. In exceptional circumstances 

fees can be agreed above the 10% limit with the prior agreement of Audit Scotland. 

35. If the auditor and audited body agree that a permanent reduction in remuneration is 

appropriate then Audit Scotland will consider the proposal, taking account of any potential 

impact on audit quality. 

Pooled costs 

36. To achieve the aim that as far as possible an audited body should pay the same fee 

irrespective of whether the auditor is an Audit Scotland team or any of the appointed private 

firms we pool certain costs which would otherwise lead to different fees being charged 

depending on the identity or location of the appointed auditor. These pooled costs are 

apportioned across the audited bodies in each sector in proportion to the expected level of 

auditor remuneration. The pooled costs include: 

 Travel and subsistence costs. 

 Procurement savings. 

 Any difference between the costs of Audit Scotland teams and the auditor remuneration 

for their audits. 

 Recoverable input VAT (local government only). 

Local government performance audit and best value audit costs 

37. Local government bodies pay for the cost of all audit work carried out in the sector including 

national performance audits, best value audits and housing benefit audits. All councils carry 

out a similar range of services and therefore can benefit from the recommendations for 

improvement and good practices identified in performance audits and best value reports at 

other councils. 

38. For performance audit work, including the costs of responding to correspondence from 

elected representatives and members of the public about issues in local government bodies, 

the budgeted costs are apportioned between significant local government bodies (councils, 

Integration Joint Boards and Strathclyde Passenger Transport) in proportion to the level of 

auditor remuneration. 

39. For Best Value audit and housing benefit audit the amount of money received by councils 

towards the cost of this work is apportioned between the 32 councils only on the basis of 

relative populations in June 2015, being a proxy for the distribution of the funding through the 

local government settlement. We fully recognise that this approach to charging for best value 

does not reflect the actual costs incurred in relation to each council but believe that it is fair 

when considering the way in which councils were funded for it.  

Tudalen y pecyn 59



Fee setting arrangements 

 

 

Page 12  

 

Audit support costs 

40. Audit Scotland incurs costs in making audit appointments, providing assurance on audit 

quality, providing technical guidance and support to all appointed auditors and contributing to 

the development of auditing and accounting guidance within Scotland and across the UK. 

These costs are apportioned across all audits relative to the level of auditor remuneration. 

 

 

  

Tudalen y pecyn 60



Audit fees for 2016/17 audits 

 

 

 Page 13 

 

Audit fees for 2016/17 
audits 
Fee levels 

41. We are reducing the average audit fees for 2016/17 audits by 6.7% building on real terms 

reductions of 24% since 2010/11 through a combination of the review of fees and funding, 

recent audit procurement exercise and further Audit Scotland Budget savings. 

42. As shown in Table 1 there is variation around this average between sectors. These 

differences arise from the varying prices bid for audit work in different sectors and the 

application of revised cost apportionment methods across all sectors as a result of the 

funding and fees review. For the NHS, the reduction includes the transfer of performance 

audit costs to the Scottish Consolidated Fund. 

Table 1 

 
Average change  

on 2015/16 charges 

Real terms 

Local government 
-4.5 -6.4% 

NHS 
-20.5 -22.4% 

Central government - 
chargeable audits +3.3% 1.4% 

Further education 
+2.0 +0.1% 

Overall weighted average 
-6.7% -8.6% 

43. The fee movements shown in Table 1 are based on achieving a break even position for the 

2017/18 financial year in all sectors.  

44. The effect of the above proposals and actual changes since 2010/11 on the average level of 

charges for each sector is shown in Table 2: 

Table 2 

Audit Years Local   Central 

 Gov. NHS FE Gov. 

     

2010/11 to 2015/16  -10.4% -13.3% +2.0% -8.9% 

     

2016/17 -4.5% -20.5% +2.0% +3.3% 

45. Within sectors there will be a range of decreases or increases to better reflect the actual 

costs of undertaking each audit and the consequences of implementing the simpler and 

more transparent apportionment of pooled costs across and within sectors. 

Tudalen y pecyn 61



Audit fees for 2016/17 audits 

 

 

Page 14  

 

 Local government - for councils reductions will range from 0% to 11% with larger councils 

generally receiving larger reductions. Fees for Integration Joint Boards will rise as a result 

of the Boards all assuming their full functions in 2016/17. Other local government bodies 

will see fees remain at 2015/16 levels. 

 NHS - mainland health boards will see significant reductions of 26-30% including the 

proposed transfer of funding for performance audit to the SCF. Island health boards will 

see an increase of around £2,500 to £7,500 (4-12 %) each to better reflect the actual cost 

of auditing these bodies. Almost all Special health boards will see fees remain at 2015/16 

levels. 

 Central government chargeable bodies will generally see increases of 1-6% to better 

reflect the actual costs of undertaking each audit and the review of the apportionment of 

pooled costs. 

 Further education - colleges that have recently merged will see reductions of 4%. 

Colleges that have not merged will see increases of £1,600 - £2,200 (14%) to better 

reflect the actual cost of delivering audits in compliance with the Code of Audit Practice at 

these audits. 

Future years 

46. For 2017/18 and 2018/19 audits, at this stage we expect to continue to make real terms 

reductions in fees across all sectors. 

Hourly rates 

47. Hourly rates are calculated for each grade of staff. The rates are based on the average direct 

costs of the role (such as salaries, national insurance and pension contributions) and indirect 

costs (such as property costs, and corporate support costs including IT, finance and human 

resources).  

48. For the 2016/17 financial year the hourly rates used to cost audit work are: 

£/hour 2015/16 2016/17 

Trainees 47 46 

Business support 

specialist 

22 22 

Audit/support officer 38 37 

Auditor 42 41 

Senior auditor 59 58 

Manager 70 68 

Senior manager 88 86 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 62



Audit fees for 2016/17 audits 

 

 

 Page 15 

 

Directors & Assistant 

Directors 

149 145 

49. The rates for the 2017/18 financial year will be calculated once the budget has been finalised 

and the pay and grading structure review has been completed as this may change the grade 

structure used from 1 April 2017. 

 

 
  

Tudalen y pecyn 63



Annex 1 

 

 

Page 16  

 

Annex 1 
 Legislative provisions relating to Audit Scotland charges 

50. Audit Scotland is subject to several statutory provisions in the setting of charges which are 

set out in the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000. Specifically, section 11 

of the Act states that “Audit Scotland may impose reasonable charges in respect of the 

exercise of its functions in connection with” certain of its functions. 

51. Further provisions specify that charges may be determined by reference to particular cases 

or classes of case and that in determining the amounts of those charges Audit Scotland must 

seek to ensure that the total sum received in respect of the charges is, taking one year with 

another, broadly equivalent to its expenditure in connection with the matters for which 

charges are made. Where an examination or study covers more than one body each body is 

to pay such proportion of the charge as is determined by Audit Scotland. 

52. Sums received by Audit Scotland in respect of charges are to be retained by it and applied to 

meet the related expenditure. Other sums received are to be paid into the Scottish 

Consolidated Fund subject to any provision for them to be applied for any other purpose eg 

through the Budget Acts. 

53. Any expenditure of Audit Scotland, so far as not met out of sums received and applied from 

charges is payable out of the Scottish Consolidated Fund. 

54. The full text of section 11 of the PFA Act is:  

Extract from the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 

11 Audit Scotland: financial provisions  

(1) Audit Scotland may impose reasonable charges in respect of the exercise of its functions in 

connection with:  

(a)  the provision of services under arrangements made in pursuance of section 10(5)  

(b)  the audit under sections 21 and 22 of an account, other than one prepared in 

pursuance of section 19(1) to (3) or 20(1)  

(c)  the carrying out under section 23 of an examination, other than one in respect of an 

office-holder in the Scottish Administration or a body or other office-holder to whom sums 

are paid out of the Fund  

(d)  the audit of an account in pursuance of Part VII of the Local Government (Scotland) 

Act 1973 (c. 65)  

(e)  the undertaking or promotion of any study under section 97A or 105A of that Act  

(f)  giving of directions under section 1 of the Local Government Act 1992 (c. 19).  

(2) Charges under subsection (1) may be determined by reference to particular cases or classes of 

case.  

Tudalen y pecyn 64

http://www.opsi.gov.uk/acts/acts1992/ukpga_19920019_en_1


Annex 1 

 

 

 Page 17 

 

(3) In determining the amounts of those charges Audit Scotland must seek to ensure that the total 

sum received in respect of the charges is, taking one year with another, broadly equivalent to its 

expenditure in connection with the matters mentioned in subsection (1)(a) to (f).  

(4) Charges under subsection (1) (b) to (f) are payable by the body or office-holder whose account 

is audited or, as the case may be, in respect of whom the examination is carried out, the study 

undertaken or promoted or the direction given.  

(5) Where a charge under subsection (1)(c), (e) or (f) relates to an examination, study or direction 

in respect of more than one body or office-holder, each body or office-holder is to pay such 

proportion of the charge as is determined by Audit Scotland.  

(6) Sums received by Audit Scotland in respect of charges under subsection (1) are to be retained 

by it and applied to meet the expenditure mentioned in subsection (3).  

(7) Any other sums received by Audit Scotland are to be paid into the Fund, subject to any 

provision made by any enactment for such sums to be applied for any purpose instead of being 

paid into the Fund.  

(8) Any expenditure of Audit Scotland, so far as not met out of sums received and applied in 

accordance with subsection (6), is payable out of the Fund.  

(9) Audit Scotland must, for each financial year, prepare proposals for its use of resources and 

expenditure and send the proposals to the Scottish Commission for Public Audit (constituted under 

section 12), which is to examine the proposals and report to the Parliament on them.  

 

Tudalen y pecyn 65



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 66

Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42


	Agenda
	2.1 PTN1 - Llythyr gan y Dirprwy Weinidog Iechyd a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol: Bil Plant (Diddymu Amddiffyniad Cosb Resymol) (Cymru) – 31 Mai 2019
	2.2 PTN2 - Llythyr gan Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor yr Economi, Seilwaith a Sgiliau - Taliadau cadw mewn contractau adeiladu - 6 Mehefin 2019
	3 Proses y gyllideb ar gyfer deddfwriaeth: Sesiwn dystiolaeth 1
	5 Proses y gyllideb ar gyfer deddfwriaeth: Sesiwn dystiolaeth 3
	6 Trafod cynigion i ddiwygio Deddf Archwilio Cyhoeddus (Cymru) 2013: Sesiwn dystiolaeth 1
	FIN(5)-16-19 P2 Written evidence - PAWA - AGS
	FIN(5)-16-19 P2 Annex (merge with P2)
	Briff Ymchwil




